
 
 

 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
 
26 August 2019 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
 
A meeting of the Planning Committee will be held in Committee Room 1 Marmion 
House Lichfield Street Tamworth Staffs B79 7BZ on Tuesday, 3rd September, 2019 
at 6.00 pm. Members of the Committee are requested to attend. 
 
 
Yours faithfully 
 

 
Chief Executive 
 

A G E N D A 
 

NON CONFIDENTIAL 
 
 
1 Apologies for Absence  

2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 6) 

3 Declarations of Interest  

N0N-CONFIDENTIAL



 To receive any declarations of Members’ interests (pecuniary and non-
pecuniary) in any matters which are to be considered at this meeting. 

 
When Members are declaring a pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest in 
respect of which they have dispensation, they should specify the nature of 
such interest.  Members should leave the room if they have a pecuniary or 
non-pecuniary interest in respect of which they do not have a dispensation.   

 

4 Application for consideration - Footsteps Nursery, Lichfield Street (Pages 7 
- 22) 

 (Report of Assistant Director – Growth and Regeneration) 
 
 
Application 
Number: 

0061/2019 
 

 
Development: 
 
 
 

Proposed demolition of an existing childrens day nursery and 
semi-detached dwelling. Proposed erection of a replacement 
childrens day nursery with associated car parking and 
amenity area, and erection of 3 no. two-storey dwellings with 
associated car parking. 
 

Location:         Woodcroft, 130 Lichfield Road, Tamworth, B79 7SE 
 

 a Application for consideration Spring Tree Care Home  (Pages 23 - 40) 

  (Report of Assistant Director – Growth and Regeneration) 
 
 
Application Number: 0085/2019 

 
 
Development Proposed residential care home for extra care 

and dementia patients. 
 
Location Spring Tree Rest Home, 433 Watling Street, Two 

Gates, Tamworth, B77 1EL 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 b Application for consideration - Statfold Barn Farm  (Pages 41 - 50) 

  (Report of Assistant Director – Growth and Regeneration) 
 
 
Application Number: 0254/2019  

 
 
Development: Proposed agricultural barn for grain storage 

incorporating a wood chip powered biomass heating 
system 

 
Location: Statfold Barn Farm, Ashby Road, Tamworth, 

Staffordshire, B79 0BU 
 
 
 

 
   _______________________________________ 
 
Access arrangements 

If you have any particular access requirements when attending the meeting, please contact 
Democratic Services on 01827 709267 or e-mail democratic-services@tamworth.gov.uk. We can 
then endeavour to ensure that any particular requirements you may have are catered for. 
 
Filming of Meetings 

The public part of this meeting may be filmed and broadcast.  Please refer to the Council’s 

Protocol on Filming, Videoing, Photography and Audio Recording at Council meetings which can 

be found here for further information. 

The Protocol requires that no members of the public are to be deliberately filmed.  Where 

possible, an area in the meeting room will be set aside for videoing, this is normally from the front 

of the public gallery.  This aims to allow filming to be carried out whilst minimising the risk of the 

public being accidentally filmed.    

If a member of the public is particularly concerned about accidental filming, please consider the 

location of any cameras when selecting a seat. 

FAQs 

For further information about the Council’s Committee arrangements please see the FAQ page 

here 

 

To Councillors: P Thurgood, M Bailey, J Chesworth, C Cooke, R Ford, S Goodall, 
M Greatorex, M J Greatorex, T Jay, J Oates, M Oates, S Peaple and 
P Standen 

 

 
 
 
 

mailto:democratic-services@tamworth.gov.uk
https://www.tamworth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/councillors_docs/TBC-Filming-Protocol.docx
https://www.tamworth.gov.uk/council-meetings-faqs


 
 
 



 

 

1  
 

 
 
 
 
 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
HELD ON 4th JUNE 2019 

 
 

 
PRESENT: Councillor P Thurgood (Chair), Councillors M Bailey, R Ford, 

S Goodall, M Greatorex, M J Greatorex, T Jay, J Oates, M Oates 
and S Peaple 

 
The following officers were present: Matthew Bowers (Assistant Director Growth 
& Regeneration), Andrew Collinson (Senior Planning Officer), Stephen Lewis 
(Regulatory Services Manager), Stuart Evans (Solicitor to the Council) and Jodie 
Small (Legal, Democratic and Corporate Support Assistant) 
 
Apologies received from: Councillor(s)  J Chesworth, C Cooke and P Standen 
 
 
 

1 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 9th April 2019 were approved and signed as a 
correct record. 
 
(Moved by Councillor M Oates and seconded by Councillor J Oates) 
 

2 APPOINTMENT OF VICE CHAIR  
 
RESOLVED: That Councillor M Bailey  be appointed as Vice-Chair 

 
 (Moved by Councillor R ford and seconded by Councillor T Jay) 
 

3 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no Declarations of Interest. 
 

4 APPLICATIONS FOR CONSIDERATION  
 
4.1 0056-2019 - 50 Thomas Street  
 
Application Number 0056/2019 

 
Development Single storey rear extensions 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



Planning Committee 4 June 2019 

 

 

2 
 

Location 50 Thomas Street, Tamworth, B77 3PR 
 

Resolved Approved subject to conditions 
 
 

(Moved by Councillor M Oates and seconded by Councillor T Jay) 

4.2 0261-2018 - Alders Cottage  
 
Application Number 0261/2018 

 
Development Proposed erection of three new detached 

houses and proposed double garage to existing 
property 
 

Location Land adjoining Alders Cottage, Alders Lane, 
Tamworth, B79 7SD 
 

Resolved Approved subject to conditions 
 
 

(Moved by Councillor T Jay and seconded by Councillor S Goodall) 

5 APPEAL INFORMATION  
 
5.1 Appeal decision - B5000 North Warks Sports Ground  
 
 
Appeal Ref Number Appeal reference - APP/R3705/W/18/3196890 

Planning reference PAP/2017/0602  
 

Development Outline - residential development up to 150 
dwellings, open space, landscaping, drainage 
features and associated infrastructure. 
Detailed approval is sought for principal 
means of access, with all other matters 
reserved  
 

Location Land 160m South Of North Warwicks Sports 
Ground, Tamworth Road, Polesworth 
 

Resolved For information 
 
 

  

 Chair  
 

 

Page 6



 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

 3
rd

 September 2019 

 
 
 

APPLICATION FOR CONSIDERATION 
 

 

 

 
REPORT OF ASSISTANT DIRECTOR - GROWTH & REGENERATION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



 
Application Number:  0061/2019 
 
Development:  Proposed demolition of an existing childrens day nursery and semi-

detached dwelling. Proposed erection of a replacement childrens day 
nursery with associated car parking and amenity area, and erection of 3 
no. two-storey dwellings with associated car parking. 

 
 
 
Location:  Woodcroft, 130 Lichfield Road, Tamworth, B79 7SE 

 

 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1. The application is being reported to Planning Committee based on the size and nature of the application. 

The application is considered a major application based on the total new floor space associated with the 
development being over 1000 sqm. 
 

1.2. The application is for the demolition of three dwellings and an existing children’s nursery building to the 
rear, as well as the erection of three new three bedroom dwellings and a detached purpose built single 
storey children’s nursery. When the application was originally submitted the application was for the 
erection of three four bedroom dwellings, however during the consideration of the application, the 
dwellings were reduced from four bedrooms to three in order to overcome issues associated with 
highway safety, parking standards housing mix. 

 
1.3. The proposal is accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment and Design and Access Statement. The 

application site is currently used as a children’s nursery who occupy the dwellings to the southern edge 
of the site as well as the building to the rear. Access to the site is proposed from an existing access road 
off Lichfield Road which is proposed to be 6.0 metres wide. The access then leads into a parking area 
for the children’s nursery as well as dedicated parking for the three new dwellings.  

 
1.4. The current dwellings consist of a detached property as well as two mid-century semi-detached 

properties. The detached property is rendered with a gabled roof, where as the two semi-detached 
properties have a hipped roof. None of the properties are in keeping with those surrounding the site. 
Behind the three dwellings sits a single storey detached building, also rendered with a gabled roof. In 
front of the three dwellings to the southern edge of the site are dedicated off street parking provisions. 

 
1.5. The three new dwellings proposed sit on the southen edge of the site with small grassed areas acting as 

front gardens between the properties and the footpath edge. The properties are arranged in a terrace 
formation and are all in-line with one another. The style of the new properties is in keeping with that of 
the surrounding properties, demonstrating gabled roofs and detailing that matches adjacent properties. 
Rear gardens of uniform size are located behind the properties and each property benefits from two 
allocated parking spaces, located to the side of the properties accessed from the children’s nursery 
access road. Sitting behind the rear gardens of the three new dwellings sits the car park for the nursery 
which has a one way system incorporated with its design. On the opposite side of the car park sits the 
proposed new dedicated detached nursery which sits in front of a landscaped out door activity area for 
the nursery. As part of the landscaping scheme, 10 new Betula Nigra trees are to be planted along the 
north western corner of the site and along the northern boundary. Three trees are to be included 
adjacent to the three new dwellings and a single tree is included within the car parking area. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



Location Plan 
 
 

 
 
 
2. Policies 
 
2.1 Local Plan Policies  
 

SS1 – The Spatial Strategy for Tamworth 
SS2 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
HG1 – Housing  
HG5 – Housing Mix 
HG6 – Housing Density 
EN4 – Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity 
EN5 – Design and New Development 
EC6 – Sustainable Economic Growth 
SU1 - Sustainable Transport Network 
SU2 – Delivering Sustainable Transport 
SU4 - Flood Risk and Water Management 
IM1 – Infrastructure and Developer Contributions 
Appendix C – Car Parking Standard 

 
3. Relevant Site History 

 

T19140 CHANGE OF USE TO OFFICE 

T19998 CHANGE OF USE TO CHILDRENS' NURSERY 

T21288 VARIATION OF CONDITION NO. 6 ON PLANNING APPLICATION    T19998 

T02898 Bow window at Woodcroft, Lichfield Road. 
T00057 proposed alterations and extension 

0289/2012 Change of use from residential (C3) to children's nursery (D1) with associated parking 

0364/2012 Proposed change of use from residential (C3) to children's nursery (D1) with 
associated parking 

0194/2013 Works to TPO'd Trees (A6 TPO No2 1969) to allow the removal of 5 trees, and 20% 
crown reduction to a further 9 trees.  

0036/2016 Works to TPO Trees (TPO No2 1969 - Group A6) Removal of 8 Silver Birch trees 

0065/2016 Variation of condition 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7 of planning permission 0364/2012 in relation to 
works to garage, boundary treatments, car parking area levels/gradients, site access 
and parking and circulation areas 

0191/2016 Extension of existing rear car park and removal of 8 No. Silver Birch trees 

 
 

Page 9



4. Consultation Responses 
 
4.1 Whilst every effort has been made to accurately summarise the responses received, full copies of 

the representations received are available to view at 
http://planning.tamworth.gov.uk/northgate/planningexplorer/generalsearch.aspx  
 

4.2       Severn Trent Water Ltd 
         
            No objections subject to conditions. 
 
4.3       Tamworth Borough Council – Environmental Health 
         
            No objections subject to pre-commencement condition 
 
4.4       Tamworth Borough Council – Refuse Collection 
         
            No objections provided sufficient space for refuse facilities. 
 
4.5       Tamworth Borough Council (Tree Officer) 
 
            No objections to the number and species of trees included, concerns over the positioning of the 

replacement trees 
 
4.6       Tamworth Borough Council (Development Plan) 
 
           No objections. 
         
4.7       Tamworth Borough Council (Strategic Housing) 
 
           No objections. 
 
4.8      Staffordshire County Highways  
 
           No objections subject to conditions.  
 
4.9      Staffordshire County Council (Lead Local Flood Authority) 
         
           No objections subject to conditions. 
       

The consultation responses comments are précised if conditions are proposed these are included 
within the conditions at the end of the report unless stated otherwise. 

 
5. Additional Representations 
 
5.1 As part of the consultation process adjacent residents were notified and a press notice and site 

notices were erected. Whilst every effort has been made to accurately summarise the responses 
received, full copies of the representations received are available to view at www.tamworth.gov.uk.  

 
5.2 One comment from a neighbouring property was received querying the boundary treatment to be 

used between the proposed access road and the properties on Wynyates. As a result additional 
information was requested regarding the nature of the boundary treatment, which has now been 
supplied and a Noise Survey has been conditioned as a pre-commencement condition to determine 
the impact on neighbouring properties along Wynyates.  

 
6. Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
6.1 Due regard, where relevant, has been taken to the Tamworth Borough Council’s equality duty as 

contained within the Equalities Act 2010. The authority has had due regard to the public sector 
equality duty (PSED).  Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, a public authority must in the 
exercised of its functions, have due regard to the interests and needs of those sharing the protected 
characteristics under the Act, such as age, gender, disability and race. This proposal has no impact 
on such protected characteristics. 

 

Page 10

http://planning.tamworth.gov.uk/northgate/planningexplorer/generalsearch.aspx
http://www.tamworth.gov.uk/


6.2 There may be implications under Article 8 and Article 1 of the First Protocol of the Human Rights 
Act, regarding the right of respect for a person’s private and family life and home, and to the 
peaceful enjoyment of possessions.  However, these issues have been taken into account in the 
determination of this application. 

 
7. Planning Considerations 
 
7.0 The key issues to be considered at this stage are  
 

 Principle 

 Character, Appearance and Scale 

 Impact on residential amenity 

 Parking and Highways 

 Impact on Trees 

 Flooding and Surface Drainage 

 Employment Opportunities 
 
7.1 Principle 
 
7.1.1 The starting point in determining the acceptability of development proposals is the Local Plan, where 

the policies are consistent with the NPPF. Policy HG1 is the most relevant local policy in assessing 
residential development within the Borough which supports residential development within the urban 
area of the Borough. This is considered to reflect the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development contained within the NPPF because development within the urban area of Tamworth is 
in general terms sustainable. This is as a result of access to sustainable modes of transport and 
access to relevant services and amenities within the Borough, as well as providing an appropriate 
housing mix of well-designed dwellings which are supported by services and facilities that meet the 
community’s needs. Therefore it is considered that policy HG1 is consistent with the NPPF. The 
application site is located wholly within the urban area of Tamworth, as defined on the proposals 
map. The site itself is located within walking distance of regular public transport services along 
Lichfield Road. The application is for the erection of three dwellings as well as the erection of a 
purpose built single storey nursery. The site is located within a predominately residential area. It 
would encourage an efficient use of land and the housing mix (3 – three bedroomed properties) will 
help create sustainable mixed communities. Policy EC6 Sustainable Economic Growth is another 
relevant policy regarding the application. The erection of a new purpose built nursery is supported 
by Policy EC6 based on the fact that the site is accessible to public transport, is compatible with the 
surrounding uses and will not have an adverse impact on the amenities and character of the 
surrounding area. The proposal will also be supported by the necessary infrastructure.  

 
7.2 Character, Appearance and Scale 
 
7.2.1 The appearance of a development is a material planning consideration and in general terms the 

design of a proposal should not adversely impact on the character and appearance of the wider 
street scene. Policy EN5 – Design and New Development states that developments should be of a 
scale, layout form and massing which conserves or enhances the setting of development and utilize 
materials and overall detailed design which conserves or enhances the context of the development.  
Proposals should respect and where appropriate reflect existing local architectural and historic 
characteristics but without ruling out innovative or contemporary design which is still sympathetic to 
the valued characteristics of an area.  

 
7.2.2 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in July 2018 and is a material 

planning consideration in the determination of planning decisions. One of the core planning 
principles contained within the NPPF seeks to ensure high quality design and a good standard of 
amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings.  

 
7.2.3 Design is subjective and open to interpretation and is often quoted as the art of making places for 

people, a process that is reliant on a number of different but mutually reinforcing objectives. 
Successful places constitute more than good architecture. It is important to understand the function 
of a place over time as well as the connections and spaces between buildings will affect the way a 
place ‘feels’. The Borough’s position on design is contained in Local Plan policy EN5 – Design and 
New Development which states that “….developments should be of a scale, layout form and 
massing which conserves or enhances the setting of development and utilise materials and overall 

Page 11



detailed design which conserves or enhances the context of the development. Proposals should 
respect and where appropriate reflect existing local architectural and historic characteristics but 
without ruling out innovative or contemporary design which is still sympathetic to the valued 
characteristics of an area”. 

 
7.2.4 The area in general is of residential nature with a mix of modern two storey houses and three storey 

blocks of flats. The proposed dwellings, whilst providing 2 storeys of residential use, is of 
comparative eaves height of the dwellings in the vicinity of the site, the roof ridge height of 8.6 
metres is comparable to the surrounding properties. The properties will sit in line with the street 
scene and will be visible from Lichfield Road. Architectural detail helps to break up the mass of the 
dwellings. Elevations of the three dwellings have been provided below which show how dwellings 
will appear from Lichfield Street. Officers do not consider that the dwellings by virtue of their mass 
and scale and design will be out of keeping to the detriment of the character of the area. 

 

 
 
 
7.2.5 The properties have been designed in a manner which is both sympathetic to, and informed by the 

existing properties which are within the vicinity and creates a strong building line along Lichfield 
Road. The dwellings have been designed in a terrace layout which adds to the creation of a strong 
building line. The gable end roof style is in keeping with properties within the area. Increased 
detailing has been incorporated as part of the designs which includes soldier coursing above and 
below windows in all elevations of the houses. There are also overhanging eaves to create depth 
and shadowing detailing on all elevations. With regards to the brick work, a deep plinth has been 
included around all elevations of the properties. To the front and rear elevations of the dwellings, 
contrasting finishes have been included with brick being included up to 1.0m from ground level to 
the top of the plinth, above this point render is included within the design which is in keeping with the 
existing building. Providing contrasting finishes within the property design adds architectural merit to 
the properties and enhances their character and appearance. The new dwellings are therefore of a 
scale and design that is in keeping with the area in general and compliant with policy guidelines.  

 
7.2.6 The purpose built nursery will be located to the rear of the three new dwellings and is to be a single 

storey construction, although has a significant Hipped roof above the eaves measuring 6.2m in 
height to the roof ridge line. As a result the nursery will not be visible from Lichfield Road as it will be 
shielded by the three dwellings to the front of the site. Elevations of the proposed nursery are 
illustrated below. The materials to be used as part of the nursery include brick to all elevations of the 
structure with UPVC facia boarding included within the gable ends of the building’s roof line. Within 
the North elevation facing onto the rear outdoor area are large window openings from floor to eaves 
level whilst on the opposing front elevation looking onto the car park are high level horizontal 
windows. 

 

Page 12



 
 
7.2.7 The proposal will result in a development of 3 dwellings and the erection of the purpose built nursery 

on approximately 0.99 hectare which equates to approximately 3 dwellings per hectare plus the 
nursery with a floor space of 836 sqm. The minimum density for urban locations, as set out in the 
Tamworth Local Plan (policy HG6) is between 30 and 40 dwellings per hectare, however due to the 
site being a replacement of like for like with a more appropriate and fit for purpose scheme. In 
addition if the area solely for the 3 dwellings is taken into account it is in-line with the 30-40 
dwellings per hectare and is in-line with HG6. As a consequence it is considered that the proposal is 
policy compliant in this respect.  

 
7.2.8 The garden areas of the properties are above the minimum standard set out within the SPD (75 sqm 

minimum for 3 bedroom properties) as each garden is approximately 90 sqm and therefore is 
deemed acceptable.  

 
7.3 Impact on residential amenity  
 
7.3.1 Policy EN5 – Design and New Development states that developments will be expected to minimise 

or mitigate environmental impacts for the benefit of existing and prospective occupants of 
neighbouring land. Such impacts may include loss of light, privacy or security or unacceptable noise, 
pollution, flooding or sense of enclosure. 

 
7.3.2 The proposed development is laid out in a manner which would protect the amenities of 

neighbouring properties. There would be no detrimental impact of the proposal in terms of 
overlooking or overshadowing of the adjacent properties. The new properties would not be 
overlooked or overshadowed. Separation distances between the new dwellings and the existing 
houses surrounding the site are significantly more than the minimum required. The proposed 
purpose built nursery being single storey is an acceptable distance away from the adjacent property 
and will also be screened from neighbouring properties by the new trees to be planted as part of the 
landscaping scheme. Therefore no aspects of the scheme will lead to a sense of the development 
being overbearing, loss of light or a loss of privacy. Additional fencing is to be incorporated along the 
access road and the side of the new car park to serve the new nursery, which in turn will reduce the 
impact of noise transfer to the rear gardens of the neighbouring properties. 

 
7.3.3 Due to the orientation of the new dwellings, the principal and rear elevations of the new dwellings 

will not front onto the rear garden of neighbouring properties, no properties will be included to the 
rear of the new dwellings and there is a sufficient distance between the proposed new dwellings and 
the existing properties across from Lichfield Road. A site layout plan is included below to illustrate 
the positioning and relation of the three new dwellings and the new nursery to the surrounding area 
and properties. 

 

Page 13



 
 
7.3.4 For the above reasons it is considered that the proposed development will not cause significant 

harm to the amenity currently enjoyed by the existing residential properties or the future occupiers of 
the proposed dwellings and the scheme therefore satisfies this element of Local Plan Policy EN5.  

 
7.4 Parking and highway considerations 
 
7.4.1 Policy SU2 and EN5 require development proposals to have particular regard to highway safety, 

service requirements and the capacity of the local road network and the adopted parking standards 
set out in Appendix C of the Local Plan.  

 
7.4.2 Based on the information supplied within the application and the location of the development site, 

the proposal adheres to Policy SU2 Delivering Sustainable Transport. The site sits adjacent to 
Lichfield Road which benefits from a major bus route that accesses the town centre and main public 
transport interchange sites as well as other key areas within Tamworth. The site location sits within 
meters of existing bus stops on each side of the road, therefore the site and proposal is acceptable 
in terms of supporting and encouraging the use of transport modes other than private cars. 

 
7.4.2 The proposed plans also adhere to Policy SU2 in terms of highway safety. Access to the site is 

provided by an existing access point to the west of the site. The access road is sufficiently wide 
enough to accommodate two cars, allowing for cars to enter and leave the site at the same time 
meaning that there will be no instances where cars are waiting on the highway to enter the site. The 
layout of parking also demonstrates a one way system which increases the efficiency of traffic flows 
which again increases highway safety both on Lichfield Road and within the car park. Appropriate 
visibility has been displayed at the access to the point and the plans have met the visibility splay 
requirements for a 40 mph highway. Therefore there are no concerns surrounding highway safety as 
a result of this development. 

 
7.4.3 The plans have indicated that there will be 36 dedicated parking spaces within the nursery car park, 

including 2 disabled spaces. The three new dwellings each have 2 allocated parking spaces which 
is in-line with the standards set out within Appendix C. With regards to the number of spaces 
provided within the car park for the nursery it falls slightly short of the required number. Based on 
the minimum standards set out in Appendix C, for a development of this size the scheme should 
provide 39 spaces for the nursery. However, as previously mentioned the site sits along a main 
public transport route and therefore the shortfall of 3 spaces will not lead to a significant impact and 
is considered to be acceptable. 

 
7.4.4 The final consideration with regards to Policy SU2 is the provision of disabled parking bays. The 

scheme has provided 2 dedicated disabled parking bays, based on the requirements set out in 
Appendix C this has met the minimum requirements. As a result the scheme is deemed acceptable 
as it has demonstrated an acceptable level of parking provision for all people.  

 

Page 14



7.4.5    For the above reasons it is considered that the proposed development will not cause significant harm 
in terms of highway safety or issues associated with parking provisions, the scheme therefore 
satisfies this element of Local Plan Policy SU2.  

 

 
 

 
7.5 Impact on Trees 
 
7.5.1    Policy EN4 Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity states that development should not result in the 

net loss of biodiversity. EN4 also states that development that would involve the removal of any tree, 
woodland or hedgerow, which contributes significantly to its setting, will be sufficiently offset by 
appropriate mitigation planting. As part of the development a number of TPO trees are to be 
removed to allow for the inclusion of the sustainable urban drainage system. It is necessary to 
locate the attenuation system where proposed as it will feed into the existing drainage system 
located in Wynyates. The TPOs and other trees to be removed are not of particularly high quality 
and are not visible from the highway and therefore do not add a significant value to the area in terms 
of amenity. As part of the application a landscaping scheme has been submitted (see below) along 
with a method statement. The proposed replacement of trees presents a higher quality vegetation 
scheme than that which exists currently. The proposed trees include Magnolia and Birch. Trees will 
also be planted to the front of the site adjacent to the three new dwellings as well as a tree to be 
planted in the car park. Therefore the proposed landscaping scheme achieves the requirement set 
out in Policy EN4 as the vegetation being removed is to be replaced and will be replaced by a 
superior collection of trees that will enhance the appearance of the site but also the ecological 
impact on the site and surrounding area.  

 
7.5.2 Dialogue had been held with the Tree Officer regarding the replacement of the TPO Silver Birches. 

The Tree Officer agreed to the removal of the TPOs subject to their replacement with suitable 
alternatives which were stipulated as 7 Betula Nigra (Heavy Standard 12-14) to be located in the 
same position as the current trees. The landscaping scheme has included 10 Betula Nigra (Heavy 
Standard 12-14) trees, but has located them slightly further down the boundary to allow for the 
inclusion of the drainage attenuation scheme. It is not possible to locate the trees in their original 
location as the roots will lead to future damage and repairs of the attenuations scheme. As 
previously mentioned, the current position of the trees is not visible from Lichfield Road or Wynyates 
due to trees on the other side of the site boundary. The relocation of the proposed trees in fact 
increases screening of the scheme for properties to the rear of the site, which in turn will increase 
the visual amenity of vegetation and trees as the proposed new location of the trees will be more 
visible to surrounding areas than where the current trees sit. Therefore it is felt that on balance, the 
proposed landscaping scheme and positioning of the new trees is deemed acceptable and will have 
a positive impact on the visual amenity of the site to the surrounding area and properties.   

 
7.5.3 An objection was received from a neighbor regarding the positioning and species type that has been 

included within the landscaping scheme and the method statement. Concerns were expressed over 
the potential size of the trees and the impact of loss of light that these trees combined with the 
impact of the existing conifers will have on the rear garden of a neighbouring property who shares a 
boundary along the northern boundary. With regards to the existing conifers these trees are not 
located on the applicant’s land and therefore are not part of this application. The 10 Betula Nigra 

Page 15



trees that are to be included as part of the landscaping scheme are to be located along the north 
western and northern boundaries of the site. The proposed trees have been requested by TBC’s 
Tree Officer as replacements for the removed TPO trees along the western boundary. The size of 
the trees to be planted are to be Heavy Standard 12-14 and are unlikely that these newly planted 
trees would have an immediate impact on neighbouring properties. The agent has advised officers 
that there is the possibility of relocating trees during the construction period of the scheme. The 
replacement trees have been viewed as an important element of the scheme to offset the loss of 
protected trees. Whilst it is acknowledged that neighbours have concerns over the location of the 
proposed trees, the developer would be open to plant a range of trees along this boundary once the 
development has been built without the need for planning permission and there would be no 
regulations over the planting of trees along the northern boundary of the site. Therefore as a result 
of the landscaping scheme, it is and considering all material considerations the landscaping scheme 
associated with the development is deemed acceptable.      

 

 
 
 
7.6 Flooding and Surface Drainage 
 
7.6.1 The development site does sit within Flood Zone 2 which indicates that the chance of an extreme 

flood is a 1 in a 1000 (0.1%-1%) chance of occurring each year. The site is considered by the 
Environment Agency to be in an area that has a ‘medium probability’ of flooding. The site sits in an 
area that is exposed to between a 1 in 75 year and 1 in 250 year flood event. 

 
7.6.2     Based on information supplied as part of the Flood Report the site does sit within 250 meters of an 

area which benefits from installed flood defences. As a result of the information supplied by the 
Flood Report and the current land use for the site being the same as that proposed as part of the 
application, it is deemed acceptable that this area is to be developed for the use that is being 
considered.  

 
7.6.3 The application is in-line with Policy SU4 Flood Risk and Water Management, which states that all 

development will need to demonstrate that there, will be no increased risk of flooding to existing 
properties. The policy also states that all new developments will be expected to incorporate 
Sustainable Drainage techniques that will manage flow routes on the surface, limited surface water 

Page 16



run-off and manage the discharge of excess surface water. Details of a sustainable drainage 
network have been submitted as part of the application, the LLFA have requested more details for 
the specifics of the sustainable drainage network. It is not felt that this is necessary to submit at this 
stage, a drainage strategy should be provided which indicates surface water attenuation along with 
a hydro brake that allows surface water to go back into the storm water sewer at 5L/second. This will 
have to be submitted and discharged at a later date and can be dealt with via a pre-commencement 
condition. The proposal is considered acceptable in terms of drainage however. 

 
 7.6.4   Severn Trent water have expressed that they have no objections subject to conditions. However, the 

requirement of details for how surface water and foul water will be dealt with is not considered 
justified in this instance and can be dealt with through the building regulations approval process.    

 
 
7.7 Economic Opportunities 
 
7.7.1 Chapter 2 of the NPPF highlights the need for the planning system to support sustainable economic 

growth with notable references to job creation and prosperity. Chapter 6 of the NPPF sets out that 
planning should proactively drive and support sustainable economic development it outlines that 
significant weight should be placed on the need to support economic growth and productivity, taking 
into account both local business needs and wider opportunities for development.  
 

7.7.2 In this case the economic benefit includes both temporary economic benefits and permanent 
benefits. In terms of temporary economic benefits the development of the site will generate a 
number of jobs and the proposed development will create gross value added to the local economy. 
The permanent economic benefits would include an increase in the number of jobs from 17 full-time 
and 5 part-time employees to 27 full-time employees, which will contribute gross value added to the 
Tamworth economy. In addition, the skills development and training element of the proposal is 
important too to the local economy.  

 
 
8 Conclusion 
 
8.1 The proposal comprises a sustainable form of development making good use of an under-utilised 

site. It provides a high quality modern design that protects the interests of neighbouring residents 
and adds to the character of the area. On balance the proposed development is considered to 
accord with the relevant adopted Local Plan policies and in the absence of any other material 
considerations, the application is recommended for approval. This accords with policies SS1, SS2, 
HG1, HG5, HG6, EN4, EN5, EN6, SU1, SU2, SU4, IM1 and Appendix C of the adopted Tamworth 
Local Plan 2006-2031 and the National Planning Policy Framework 

8.2 The proposal will ensure the protection and increase in employment opportunities provided within 
the site. As well as providing additional jobs and training for local residents, the nursery will continue 
to provide a valuable service for the community and support the needs of young families within the 
borough. 

 
8.3 The proposal will ensure the protection of ecological and landscape features by the incorporating a 

detailed landscaping scheme and method statement. Protections will be imposed to safeguard the 
new trees planted as part of the development. This will include conditions relating to prevention of 
removal or replacement of dead of trees incorporated within the landscaping scheme. 

 
 
9 Recommendation 
 

1. Approval subject to the conditions outlined below. 
 

  

 
Conditions / Reasons 
 

 
1. The development shall be started within three years of the date of this permission.  

 

Page 17



REASON: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by 
Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  
 

2. The development hereby approved shall only be carried out in accordance with the following 
drawings and documents. 

  

Drawing(s) Reference(s) 

Proposed Site Layout 9B 
 

Proposed Nursery Elevations 5A 

Proposed Nursery Floor Plans 2A 

Proposed Dwelling Floor Plans and 
Elevations 

9 

Landscaping Scheme Planting Plan 

 
REASON: To define this permission. 
 

3. No development shall begin until a detailed surface water drainage design has been submitted to 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the Lead Local Flood Authority. 
 
The design must demonstrate: 

 Surface water drainage system(s) designed in accordance with national and local standards, 
including the non-statutory technical standards for sustainable drainage systems (DEFRA, March 
2015). 

 SuDS design to provide adequate water quality treatment in accordance with the CIRIA SuDS 
Manual Simple Index Approach and SuDS treatment design criteria. 

 Limiting the discharge rate generated by all rainfall events up to the 100 year plus climate change 
critical rain storm so that it will not exceed equivalent rates prior to redevelopment. Evidence to be 
provided for STW agreed point and rate of discharge to public sewer. 

 Detailed design (plans, network details and calculations) in support of any surface water drainage 
scheme, including details on any attenuation system, and the outfall arrangements. Calculations 
should demonstrate the performance of the designed system for a range of return periods and storm 
durations inclusive of the 1 in 1 year, 1 in 30 year, 1 in 100 year and 1 in 100 year plus climate 
change return periods.  

 Plans illustrating flooded areas and flow paths in the event of exceedance of the drainage system. 
Site layout and levels should provide safe exceedance routes and adequate access for 
maintenance. 

 Provision of an acceptable management and maintenance plan for surface water drainage to ensure 
continued performance of the system for the lifetime of the development. This should include a 
schedule of required maintenance activities and frequencies, and contact details for the organisation 
responsible for carrying out these duties. 
 
The scheme shall be fully implemented and subsequently maintained, in accordance with the timing 
/ phasing arrangements embodied within the scheme, or within any other period as may 
subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
REASON: To reduce the risk of surface water flooding to the development and properties 
downstream for the lifetime of the development in accordance with Policy SU4 of the Tamworth 
Local Plan 2006-2031. 
 

4. No development shall commence on the site until such time as a Construction Management Plan, 
including as a minimum details of the routing of construction Heavy Goods Vehicles, wheel 
cleansing facilities, vehicle parking facilities, and a timetable for their provision, has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The construction of the development 
shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details and timetable. Details of the 
following are to be supplied although this list is not exhaustive of all elements: construction working 
hours, delivery access and storage of materials, method of dust suppression, construction noise 
management, details of phasing of the development and a routing plan for HGVs.  
 
REASON: To reduce the possibility of deleterious material (mud, stones etc.) being deposited in the 
highway and becoming a hazard for road users, to ensure that construction traffic does not use 
unsatisfactory roads and lead to on-street parking problems in the area. To prevent nuisance to 

Page 18



occupiers of nearby residential properties in accordance with policy EN5: Design of New 
Developments and SU5 Pollution, Ground Conditions and Minerals and Soils as set out in the 
adopted Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031 and paragraph 180 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 

5. The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use unless and until an assessment of 
noise emanating from the day nursery buildings and a scheme specifying the provisions to be made 
for the control of noise has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The assessment shall demonstrate that the noise, corrected for acoustic features, 
measured at or calculated to a position representing the boundary with any residential property 
which may suffer a loss of amenity from or be affected by the noise associated with the 
development. 
 
REASON: To protect the amenity of the existing and future residents of nearby residential properties 
in accordance with policy EN5: Design of New Developments and SU5 Pollution, Ground Conditions 
and Minerals and Soils as set out in the adopted Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031 and paragraph 
180 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
6. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until such time as the car parking and 

turning facilities have been implemented in accordance with the Site Layout Plan (Drawing No. 
3313/9 Rev. B); thereafter the onsite parking provision shall be so maintained in perpetuity.  
 
REASON: To ensure that adequate off-street parking provision is made to reduce the possibility of 
the proposed development leading to on-street parking problems locally and to enable vehicles to 
enter and leave the site in a forward direction in the interests of highway safety and in accordance 
with Paragraph 108 of the National Planning Policy Framework February 2019. 
 

7. The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until such time as secure cycle 
parking shall be provided in accordance with details first submitted to and agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the cycle parking shall be maintained and kept available for 
use.  
 
REASON: In the interests of highway safety and to promote travel by sustainable modes in 
accordance with Paragraphs 104 and 108 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019. 
 

8. The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use/occupied until such time as the 
access drive has been surfaced with tarmacadam or similar hard bound material (not loose 
aggregate) for a distance of at least 10 metres behind the highway boundary and, once provided, 
shall be so maintained in perpetuity.  
 
REASON: To reduce the possibility of deleterious material being deposited in the highway (loose 
stones etc.) in the interests of highway safety and in accordance with Paragraph 108 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework February 2018. 
 

9. Any vehicular access gates, barriers, bollards, chains or other such obstructions that are erected to 
the proposed new access should be kept fully open at all times when the site is open to staff, or 
customers.  
 
REASON: To enable a vehicle to stand clear of the highway in order to protect the free and safe 
passage of traffic including pedestrians in the public highway in accordance with Paragraph 108 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework 2018. 
 

10. Notwithstanding the provisions of Class A of Schedule 2 Part 1 A, B, C of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking or re-enacting that 
Order), no extensions to the three dwellings, except as authorised under the submitted application, 
without the prior grant of planning permission on an application made in that regard to the Local 
Planning Authority.  
 
REASON: In order to provide sufficient amenity space for residential dwellings in accordance with 
Policy EN5 Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 
 

Page 19



11. Commercial activities relating to the children’s nursery shall only take place on the site during the 
hours of 07:30 a.m. to 6:30 p.m. on Monday to Friday and at no other time unless agreed in writing 
with the Local Planning Authority. 
 
REASON : To prevent nuisance to occupiers of nearby residential properties in accordance with 
policy EN5: Design of New Developments and SU5 Pollution, Ground Conditions and Minerals and 
Soils as set out in the adopted Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031 and paragraph 180 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 

12. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be carried out 
in the first planting and seeding season following the occupation of the buildings or the completion of 
the development, whichever is the sooner; and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years 
from the completion of the development die, are removed, or become seriously damaged or 
diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of a similar size and species, 
unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.  

 
Reason: In the interests of the setting and visual appearance of the development, and in compliance 
with policies EN4: Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity and EN5: Design of New development as 
set out in the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 
 
 

 
PLANS 
 

 
 

Page 20



 
 

 

 

 

Page 21



 
 

 
 

Page 22



 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

 3
rd

 September 2019 

 
 
 

APPLICATION FOR CONSIDERATION 
 

 

 

 
REPORT OF ASSISTANT DIRECTOR - GROWTH & REGENERATION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 23

Agenda Item 4a



 
Application Number:  0085/2019 
 
Development:  Proposed residential care home for extra care and dementia patients. 
 
Location:  Spring Tree Rest Home, 433 Watling Street, Two Gates, Tamworth, B77 
1EL 

 

 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1. This application is being reported to Planning Committee as it is a 996 metres squared and nearly a 

major application. Members are aware of the site and the application is finely balanced in terms of 
design and need for additional care facilities. Officers therefore considered to report it to Planning 
Committee for consideration. 
 

1.2. The application site comprises of 0.223 hectares and is located to the South of Watling Street (A5) 
adjacent to Wilnecote Rail Station. The proposal site sits within the Wilnecote regeneration corridor. The 
site is on a slope with a difference of three meters between its lower point along Watling Street and the 
highest point to the southern boundary. Adjacent the site to the east there lies Willnecote Rail station 
which is in a deep cutting several meters below the application site. To the North, on the opposite side of 
the Watling lies an area of vacant land, hardcored and used for the parking of cars. To the South beyond 
the rear boundary of the application site are the rear gardens of No’s 10, 12 and 14 Cottage Farm Road. 
To the west, fronting onto Watling Street lies a run of terraced dwellings surrounded by vacant 
development land. 

 
1.3. Spring tree cottage closed in 1999 being uneconomical to operate with only a maximum of 7 residents. 

In 2010 planning approval was granted to remove the old cottage and build a 40 bedroom residential 
care home for the elderly including the provision of car parking and landscaping. (0311/2010) of which 
the first phase for 30 rooms has been completed. The care home has full occupancy and it has been 
identified by the applicant for the requirement of additional development to provide additional 
accommodation and care for the elderly in this locality. With the second phase of the original permission 
which would only provide an additional 10 rooms proving to be an uneconomical build for the capacity 
created. The applicant has reviewed options and submitted this application which would increase the 
capacity of the home to 52 (+2) rooms in total. Note two rooms are not determined for the scheme, 
these areas are currently lounge spaces, but if demand should necessitate either one or both of these 
upper floor lounges could be converted to bedrooms. 

 
1.4. The proposal is located to the rear of the existing nursing home. The existing buildings floor footprint is 

32.5 metres long by 13.2 meters wide. While keeping a similar width (13.2 meters wide), the proposed 
extension is slightly shorter (26.7 long) helping the new extension to hide behind the existing building. 
The proposal is not connected to the existing. The scale of new openings is similar to the existing ones 
with their cills being marginally lower to allow residents with limited mobility better views from the 
window openings. 

 
 

Location Plan 
 

Page 24



 
 
 
 
2. Policies 
 
2.1 Local Plan Policies  
 

SS1  - The Spatial Strategy for Tamworth 
SS2 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
HG1 – Housing  
HG3 - Regeneration Priority Areas – Wilnecote Regeneration Corridor   
HG5 – Housing Mix 
HG6 – Housing Density 
EC6 -  Economic Sustainable Growth   
EN4 – Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity 
EN5 – Design and New Development 
SU1 - Sustainable Transport Network 
SU2 – Delivering Sustainable Transport 
SU4 - Flood Risk and Water Management 
SU5 – Pollution, Ground Conditions and Minerals and Soils 
IM1 – Infrastructure and Developer Contributions 

Page 25



Appendix A – Housing Trajectory 
Appendix C – Car Parking Standard 

 
3. Relevant Site History 

 
0311/2010: Proposed residential care home for older people including 40 rooms. Approved subject 
to conditions 26/08/2010.  
 
0031/2013: Application to vary condition 2 and 7 of 0311/2010 to allow a phased development and 
the submission of bin storage details prior to occupation of the development. Approved subject to 
conditions 07/03/13.  
 
0059/2013: Discharge of conditions in respect of 3 (landscaping), 4 (noise mitigation), 5 (surface 
water drainage), 6 (bird and bat accommodation) 7 (bin stores) and 8 (wildlife access) (0311/2010). 
Approved 12/03/13. 
 

4. Consultation Responses 
 
4.1 Whilst every effort has been made to accurately summarise the responses received, full copies of 

the representations received are available to view at 
http://planning.tamworth.gov.uk/northgate/planningexplorer/generalsearch.aspx  

 
The consultation responses comments are précised if conditions are proposed these are included 
within the conditions at the end of the report unless stated otherwise. 

  
4.2 Tamworth Borough Council Waste Management  
 

Requirement to ensure space for commercial waste.  
 
4.3 Tamworth Borough Council Tree Officer 
 

No objection 
 
4.4 Tamworth Borough Council Environmental Health 
 

No objection subject to conditions  
 
4.5 Staffordshire County Council Highways 
 
 No objection subject to conditions 
 
4.6 Staffordshire Police Architectural Liaison Officer 
 

No objection 
 

4.7 Severn Trent Water 
 
 No objection subject to conditions 
 
4.8 Network Rail  
 

Objected on the following grounds: 
- position of the development close to the railway. 
- Construction management 
- No encroachment. 
- Boundary treatment. 
- No increase in liability 

 
4.9 Coal Authority 
 

No objections subject to conditions       
 

Page 26

http://planning.tamworth.gov.uk/northgate/planningexplorer/generalsearch.aspx


 
5. Additional Representations 
 
5.1 As part of the consultation process adjacent residents were notified and a press notice and site 

notices were erected. Whilst every effort has been made to accurately summarise the responses 
received, full copies of the representations received are available to view at www.tamworth.gov.uk. 
No objections have been received from neighbouring properties in respect of the proposal.  

 
6. Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
6.1 Due regard, where relevant, has been taken to the Tamworth Borough Council’s equality duty as 

contained within the Equalities Act 2010. The authority has had due regard to the public sector 
equality duty (PSED).  Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, a public authority must in the 
exercised of its functions, have due regard to the interests and needs of those sharing the protected 
characteristics under the Act, such as age, gender, disability and race. This proposal will make 
improvements to existing residents and future residents who suffer from dementia it has no direct 
impact on such protected characteristics other than during in construction which is a temporary 
consideration.  

 
6.2 There may be implications under Article 8 and Article 1 of the First Protocol of the Human Rights 

Act, regarding the right of respect for a person’s private and family life and home, and to the 
peaceful enjoyment of possessions.  However, these issues have been taken into account in the 
determination of this application. 

 
7. Planning Considerations 
 
7.1 The key issues to be considered at this stage are  
 

 Principle 

 Housing Needs for Dementia Care 

 Character and Appearance 

 Landscaping 

 Impact on residential amenity 

 Highway Safety 

 Flooding 

 Economic Development  

 Drainage 

 Other considerations 
 
7.2 Principle 
 
7.2.1 The starting point in determining the acceptability of development proposals is the Local Plan, where 

the policies are consistent with the NPPF. Policy HG3 Wilnecote Regeneration Corridor, HG5 
Housing Mix and EC6 Economic Sustainable Growth  are the most relevant local policies in 
assessing care facilities (in this case dementia care) within the Borough which supports residential 
development within the urban area of the Borough. This is considered to reflect the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development contained within the NPPF because development within the 
urban area of Tamworth is in general terms sustainable. This is as a result of access to sustainable 
modes of transport and access to relevant services and amenities within the Borough, as well as 
providing an appropriate housing mix of well-designed dwellings which are supported by services 
and facilities that meet the community’s needs. The application site is located wholly within the 
urban area of Tamworth, as defined on the proposals map. The site itself is located within walking 
distance of regular public transport services along Watling Street and within very close proximity 
Wilnecote Train Station.  

 
7.2.2 Policy HG3 will ensure that the potential benefits of regeneration are realised in areas of Tamworth 

where redevelopment is sought and anticipated. The Council’s priorities for regeneration focus on 
neighbourhoods with high levels of deprivation, and where there may be a need to redevelop some 
public housing stock that is coming to the end of its useful life. In addition, the Wilnecote Corridor 
along Watling Street has been identified as an area requiring a comprehensive approach to 
regenerating vacant or underused private property and improving the immediate environment to 
enhance this important transport corridor. The Wilnecote Regeneration Corridor is defined on the 

Page 27

http://www.tamworth.gov.uk/


Policies Map. Proposals to enhance the roadside environment or improve Wilnecote Rail Station 
and its access by bus or active travel will be supported. 

 
7.2.3 Policy HG5 advocates the provision of non-standard residential development. The development will 

meet a local need for the population that is not served by standard housing development. 
Notwithstanding this it would encourage an efficient use of land and increase the capacity of the 
care home by an additional 24 rooms. The need for dementia care across the Borough and Country 
is well known an additional provision should weigh significantly in favour of the application and will 
help create sustainable mixed communities. Policy EC6 Sustainable Economic Growth is another 
relevant policy regarding the application. The erection of an extension to the existing facility is 
supported by Policy EC6 in that it will create additional jobs.   

 
7.2.4 In principle the proposal is supported by the adopted local plan policy HG3, HG6 and EC6 subject to 

other considerations in the report. 
 
7.3 Housing Needs for Dementia Care 
 
7.3.1 Policy HG5 advocates the provision of non-standard residential development. The development will 

meet a local need for the population that is not served by standard housing development. The 
application if approved would provide up to 54 rooms in the care home and increase the capacity of 
the care home by an additional 24 rooms (above the existing 30 rooms). A report by JLL property 
consultants said that over the past 15 years new care home places have been made available at a 
rate of 7,000 a year on average – but double the number of places are needed to cope with the 
expanding population of elderly people who need residential care. The report indicated with about 
77% of all care home beds across the UK built before modern quality standards were adopted in 
2002, there is an urgent need for new development to meet demand and improve living standards 
for future care home residents. The shortfall of beds may rise to more than 70,000 within a decade 
because too few new care homes are being opened, it said. Therefore, it is considered that there is 
a significant need for the facilities in the Borough. 

 
7.4 Character and Appearance 
 
7.4.1 Policy EN5 – Design and New Development states that developments should be of a scale, layout 

form and massing which conserves or enhances the setting of development and utilize materials 
and overall detailed design which conserves or enhances the context of the development.  
Proposals should respect and where appropriate reflect existing local architectural and historic 
characteristics but without ruling out innovative or contemporary design which is still sympathetic to 
the valued characteristics of an area.  

 
 

 

Page 28



7.4.2 The existing building is a Georgian inspired building, which was developed with three main 
elements. A principle three storey Georgian style block taking the form of a large dwelling, which 
took its inspiration from a number of the remaining traditional buildings along Watling Street with two 
two-storey subservient wings to the east and west, of a more utilitarian design. This part of the 
building has been constructed as Phase 1 of the development as granted under permission 
0031/2013 and the other section 0311/2010 included a two storey rear wing indicated above. 

 
7.4.3 There is no particular vernacular for the building styles in the surrounding area, but it is clear that a 

number of original traditional designs exist on and around the site that can be reflected in the 
proposal. Buildings around the site include such themes as sash windows, brick archways, Stone 
heads and cills, traditional brick facades, rendered facades, stone stringers, plain roof tiles. The 
development should therefore be carefully considered in its context with the surroundings and 
surrounding landscaping to provide a sympathetic design proposal. Generally the new development 
is located behind an enclosed rear area and would not be particularly visible or dominant to views 
from the periphery of the site.  

 

 
 
7.4.4. The application is for a three storey proposal is located to the rear of the existing nursing home 

(indicated above). This follows the existing theme of the current building on site, whilst reflecting the 
efficient internal arrangement to maximise the number of rooms and common areas without 
profligate ancillary and circulation. The proposal utilizes a layout that is both efficient in terms of its 
massing in the site. Previous options for this scheme were for a two storey development but these 
tended to sprawl across the site and were inefficient in the use of space within the site eating into 
the amenity space. The principal consideration is that of the massing of the extension which would 
be equivalent height, mass and scale as the existing building. 

 
7.4.5 The proposal extends on the existing outdoor amenity area of the area, however it is considered on 

balance that the internal lounge areas and outdoor areas are sufficient for the future residents of the 
scheme. The proposal does provide a very elongated structure and there is concern that the 
development will provide an overly intensive built form that does little to respect the area. That said 
it is considered that from the railway side, the extension would hardly be visible due to vegetation 
between the proposed development site and the railway line. The extension will be visible from the 

Page 29



road. However, only parts of the extension would be visible, not having an adverse impact on the 
street view. Due to the morphology of the site, this would help to partially hide the extension from 
the view of the main entrance. The proposal features many of the aesthetic qualities of the existing 
building matching the main façade, as well as the Georgian style sash windows and the hipped roof. 
The extension is set back considerably from the main building and although three storeys in height 
would not be dominant. Views of the proposal of the front and rear area are indicated below. This is 
the crux of the application and there is fine balance between the provision of dementia care facilities 
which are much needed in the area and impact on the character and appearance of the area. 
Officers consider despite some reservations about the proposal’s mass and scale the need for 
facilities is on balance greater than any harm caused to the visual amenities of the area. 

  

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
7.5 Landscaping 
 
7.5.1 The difference in levels between the north end and the south end of the site is resolved by the use 

of small retaining walls which will incorporate planters and incorporated outdoor seating. The 
proposed landscaping will secure the provision of a substantial amount of new structured 

Page 30



landscaping within the application site, including new trees, soft and hard landscaping for amenity 
seating all for the enjoyment of the elderly residents. The site and its immediate surrounding area 
are located within an urban setting, Part of the site is also allocated within the Local Plan as a 
Wilnecote Regeneration Corridor this mainly requires environmental improvements fronting Watling 
Street. As the development is primarily to the rear, it would be difficult to require additional 
improvements, that said the existing hedge along Watling Street soften and enhances the corridor. 
To the rear the further area to be developed is currently paved. And the area for parking is currently 
unused land fenced off to the top of the site. Low level lighting bollards are to be located within the 
perimeter of the parking to provide adequate lighting to the parking areas and footpaths for safe 
access to the building entrances. The car parking area and drive areas to be surfaced with 
macadam with the exception of a 7 space parking row that would be surfaced with grasscrete or 
similar and the footpaths and terraces with paving slab all laid to suitable levels and gradients to 
Part M. This will be utilised to define space for overflow parking for any special event or open days, 
but generally would maintain the greening of the rear of the site when viewed from the proposed 
building. 

 
7.6 Impact on residential amenity 
 
7.6.1 Policy EN5 – Design and New Development states that developments will be expected to minimise 

or mitigate environmental impacts for the benefit of existing and prospective occupants of 
neighbouring land.  Such impacts may include loss of light, privacy or security or unacceptable 
noise, pollution, flooding or sense of enclosure. The proposal will not have a significant impact on 
the amenities of occupiers of neighbouring dwellings for the following reasons:  

 

 The neighbouring property 435 is approximately 20m away from the care home building and 5m 
away from the boundary; 

 There is no overlooking created to neighbouring properties; and 

 The area to the west is allocated for housing, however no formal application has been 
submitted. 

 
7.6.2 Additional noise attenuation fencing is to be incorporated along the railway. Also attenuation in 

terms of glazing will need to be incorporated into the rooms due to the proximity of the Watling 
Street and the Railway. A noise report was submitted with the application and Environmental 
Protection would advise that all glazing be of the same type and have the same noise attenuation 
properties than the existing building, this would be to protect future residents from noise from the 
railway and road respectively. 

 
7.7 Highway Safety 
 
7.7.1 Policy SU2 and EN5 require development proposals to have particular regard to highway safety, 

service requirements and the capacity of the local road network and the adopted parking standards 
set out in Appendix C of the Local Plan. The proposal will lead to a total demand for 32 car parking 
spaces. However, taking into consideration the car parking standard for C2 Convalescent/nursing 
homes/elderly persons homes contained in Appendix C of the Tamworth Borough Council Local 
Plan, and the Revised Drawings, the proposal leads to a demand for 45 spaces for the benefit of 
staff, patients and visitors. The Proposed Site Plan (Drawing No. 2702/210 Rev. A) details 25 
spaces, including seven in a tandem arrangement, leading to a shortfall of 20 spaces (this is 
indicated on the plan below). 

 
7.7.2 However, it must be acknowledged that, on the basis of the Existing Plans, there is currently a 

shortfall of 14 spaces at the premises and so the proposal will lead to an increase in the shortfall of 
six spaces. The percentage shortfall actually reduces as a result of the proposal from 53.8% to 
44.4%. In practice, the operation of the existing use is such that the take up of car parking spaces is 
less than the above figures would suggest/require and states that “typically at present there are 
never more than 5 cars on site at any time”. 

 
7.7.3 The information from the Applicant that the take up of the existing car parking spaces is low, and the 

facts that the site is very close to a train station, relatively close to bus stops and residential areas 
from where employees may be drawn, and cycle parking will be improved, may reduce the parking 
demand. It is noted that there are also stringent waiting restrictions on roads and that there are no 
related Personal Injury Accidents in the vicinity reduces the unacceptability of the car parking 
provision and, in the specific circumstances.  
 

Page 31



 

 
 
7.7.4 The proposal will not have a significant impact on highway safety for following reasons;  
 

 Parking standards are compliant with contents of Tamworth’s Local Plan. The plan states that 
for nursing homes, the recommended amount of spaces is 1 space per 3 beds for staff and out-
patients, and for visitors 1 space per 2 beds. For staff and out-patients this equates to 24. 

 The proposed development would provide 25 parking spaces, which 7 of these are tandem 
spaces. The Local Plan states that tandem spaces are only acceptable where specifically for 
use by staff with similar working hours. Staffs at the care home work in 3x 8 hour shifts, the 
proposed 22 employees means that the proposed parking spaces will be adequate. 

 Vehicular turning is provided within the site. 

 The development is served well by pedestrian links, and bus routes located at multiple locations 
along Watling Street near to the site for staff and visitors. The site is located immediately 
adjacent to Wilnecote station where secure parking is located. 

 Secure parking and cycle parking is located within the site for limited staff parking and visitor 
parking.  

 
7.7.5 The bin collections are by private collection, the intention is not to increase the bin store size but to 

increase the number of collections. The bin lorry currently pulls off Watling street and reverses in the 
area to the front of the gates to reverse up to the gates. The bin storage area is immediately 
adjacent to the gates and this situation will not change. 

 
7.8 Flooding 
 
7.8.1 The site is in an area which falls outside the extent of the extreme flood, Generally this means that 

the chance of flooding each year from rivers or the sea is 0.1% (1 in 1000) or less. The Flood Map 
below shows the current best information on the extent of the extreme flood from rivers or the sea 
that would occur without the presence of flood defences. 

 
7.8.2 The building is located upon part of the site that is currently paved and positively drained. The 

proposal will create further parking to the south of the site which shall be paved in macadam. The 
proposal will consider the use of soakaway or porous paved surfacing as part of the proposal to 
eliminate the need for additional run off from the site, however it is considered that due to the size of 
the development attenuation on site may well be required. 

 
7.8.3 The application is in-line with Policy SU4 Flood Risk and Water Management, which states that all 

development will need to demonstrate that there, will be no increased risk of flooding to existing 
properties. The policy also states that all new developments will be expected to incorporate 
Sustainable Drainage techniques that will manage flow routes on the surface, limited surface water 
run-off and manage the discharge of excess surface water. Details of a sustainable drainage will 
need to be submitted as part of the application.  

 

Page 32



7.8.4 Severn Trent Water have expressed that they have no objections subject to conditions. However, 
the requirement of details for how surface water and foul water can be dealt with through the 
building regulations approval process.    

 
7.9 Economic Development 
 
7.9.1 National policy is heavily weighted towards the promotion of the economy, enterprise and the 

creation of new jobs, of which industrial development is an important part. There have been a 
significant number of recent appeal decisions nationally and locally where considerable weight is 
given to new economic development / employment proposals.  

 
7.9.2 Chapter 2 of the NPPF highlights the need for the planning system to support sustainable economic 

growth with notable references to job creation and prosperity. Chapter 6 of the NPPF sets out that 
planning should proactively drive and support sustainable economic development it outlines that 
significant weight should be placed on the need to support economic growth and productivity, taking 
into account both local business needs and wider opportunities for development. 

 
7.9.3 Paragraph 80 states: Planning policies and decisions should help create the conditions in which 

businesses can invest, expand and adapt. Significant weight should be placed on the need to 
support economic growth and productivity, taking into account both local business needs and wider 
opportunities for development. In this case the economic benefit includes both temporary economic 
benefits and permanent benefits. In terms of temporary economic benefits the development of the 
site will generate a number of jobs and the proposed development will create gross value added to 
the local economy. The permanent economic benefits would include an increase in the number of 
jobs from 15 full-time and 6 on site at all times to 22 full-time employees and 9 on site at all times. 
This additional employment all weigh in favour of the application and will contribute gross value 
added to the Tamworth economy. In addition, the skills development and training element of the 
proposal is important too to the local economy. 

 
7.10 Other considerations 
 
7.10.1 Protected Species - any proposal should lead to a net increase in terms of biodiversity in 

accordance with para 175 of the NPPF and EN4 of the adopted Tamworth Local Plan. It is 
considered that railways, canals and roads provide opportunities for green infrastructure. In this 
instance a condition will be used to require bird and bat boxes and improvement landscaping to 
retain the corridor.  

 
7.10.2 Noise - a number of bedrooms are proposed along the sites boundary adjacent to the railway line 

and fronting Watling Street there are some concern for the amenities of the proposed residents. 
However, a noise report has been submitted with mitigation that will ensure that road and railway 
noise are mitigated.   

 
7.10.3  Land contamination and coal mining risk - there is the potential of risk in terms of past and previous 

uses. As the land is situated within a coal authority referral area a Coal Mining Risk Assessment has 
been submitted with the application. In order to gain a greater understanding of these issues it is 
considered appropriate and necessary to ensure that an intrusive survey in respect of coal is carried 
out prior to the commencement of development. The intrusive survey will indicate what mitigation 
measures need to take place prior to the development commencing these will also be ensured by 
condition. It is considered that this approach is sufficient to adequately safeguard the proposed 
occupiers from potentially coal legacy. 

 
7.10.4 Network Rail have objected to the proposal on a number of grounds relating to the protection of the 

train line and their assets. These objections relate to the distance to the boundary, issues during 
construction and ensuring that there is no encroachment. During the consideration of the application 
the scheme was altered to overcome these issues, however they have not responded to the re-
consultation. Despite this the matters under consideration are not material to the consideration of 
the application and these are matters that neighbours would have consider when carrying out 
development next to adjacent land. However, matters such as boundary treatment and construction 
management would have to be conditioned if the application were approved.  

 
8 Conclusion 
 

Page 33



8.1 This recommendation is one which is balanced. However, the requirements for Local Planning 
Authorities to act in the real world taking in to account relevant material considerations in addition to 
planning policy and guidance in taking decisions on planning application has led to this 
recommendation for approval. The weight attached to material considerations in reaching a 
decision is a matter of judgement for the decision-taker however the decision-taker is required to 
demonstrate that in reaching that decision that they have considered all relevant matters. The 
proposal comprises a sustainable form of development making good use of under-utilised land. 
There is a significant need for dementia care facilities in the Borough this weighs significantly in 
favour of the application. However, there is a fine balance between the provision of dementia care 
facilities which are much needed in the area and impact on the character and appearance of the 
area. Officers consider despite some reservations about the proposals mass and scale the need for 
facilities is on balance greater than any harm caused to the visual amenities of the area. 

 
8.2 On balance the proposed development is considered to accord with the relevant adopted Local Plan 

policies and in the absence of any other material considerations, the application is recommended for 
approval. This accords with policies SS1, SS2, HG3, HG6, EC6, EN4, EN5, SU2, SU4 and SU5 of 
the adopted Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031 and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
8 Recommendation 
 

1. Approval subject to conditions 
 
  

 
Conditions / Reasons 
 

1. The development shall be started within three years of the date of this permission.  
 
REASON: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by 
Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  
 

2. The development hereby approved shall only be carried out in accordance with the following 
drawings and documents. 

  

Drawing(s) Reference(s) 

Location Plan 2702-200 
 

Existing Site Plan 2702-201 

Existing ground floor plan 2702-202 

Existing first floor plan 2702-203 

Existing second floor plan 2702-204 

Existing elevations 2702-205 

Proposed site plan 2702-210 Rev A  

Proposed ground floor plan 2702-211 Rev A 

Proposed first floor plan 2702-212 Rev A 

Proposed second floor plan 2702-213 Rev A 

Proposed elevations 2702-214 

Vehicle Tracking 2702-215 

Environmental Noise Survey  

Design and Access Survey  

Bat and Bird Survey  

Coal mining risk assessment  

Highway Statement  

 
REASON: To define this permission. 

 
3. No development shall take place including any works of demolition, until a Construction Method 

Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The statement shall 
provide for :- 
• A site compound with associated temporary buildings 

Page 34



• The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors 
• Loading and unloading of plant and materials 
• Times of deliveries including details of loading and unloading of plant and materials 
• Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development 
• Wheel wash facilities (if necessary) 
• Phasing of the development including proposed garage to Alders Cottage 
The development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details.  
 
REASON: In the interests of the neighbouring amenity and highway safety and in accordance with 
policy EN5 and SU2 adopted Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031.  

 
4. No development shall begin until a detailed surface water drainage design has been submitted to 

and approved by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the Lead Local Flood Authority. 
 
The design must demonstrate: 

 Surface water drainage system(s) designed in accordance with national and local standards, 
including the non-statutory technical standards for sustainable drainage systems (DEFRA, March 
2015). 

 SuDS design to provide adequate water quality treatment in accordance with the CIRIA SuDS 
Manual Simple Index Approach and SuDS treatment design criteria. 

 Limiting the discharge rate generated by all rainfall events up to the 100 year plus climate change 
critical rain storm so that it will not exceed equivalent rates prior to redevelopment. Evidence to be 
provided for STW agreed point and rate of discharge to public sewer. 

 Detailed design (plans, network details and calculations) in support of any surface water drainage 
scheme, including details on any attenuation system, and the outfall arrangements. Calculations 
should demonstrate the performance of the designed system for a range of return periods and storm 
durations inclusive of the 1 in 1 year, 1 in 30 year, 1 in 100 year and 1 in 100 year plus climate 
change return periods.  

 Plans illustrating flooded areas and flow paths in the event of exceedance of the drainage system. 
Site layout and levels should provide safe exceedance routes and adequate access for 
maintenance. 

 Provision of an acceptable management and maintenance plan for surface water drainage to ensure 
continued performance of the system for the lifetime of the development. This should include a 
schedule of required maintenance activities and frequencies, and contact details for the organisation 
responsible for carrying out these duties. 
 
The scheme shall be fully implemented and subsequently maintained, in accordance with the timing 
/ phasing arrangements embodied within the scheme, or within any other period as may 
subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
REASON: To reduce the risk of surface water flooding to the development and properties 
downstream for the lifetime of the development in accordance with Policy SU4 of the Tamworth 
Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 
5. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved details of all materials, which 

should include recessed windows, including hard and soft landscaping, boundary treatment, bin pull 
up area, shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation of 
the dwellings hereby approved.  

 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance to the development in accordance with policy 
EN5: Design of New Development as set out in the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 
6. Prior to the commencement of development a scheme assessing the ground conditions shall be 

submitted and approved by the Local Planning Authority. This scheme shall include the following 
details:  
- The undertaking of an appropriate scheme of intrusive site investigations;  
- The submission of a report of findings arising from the intrusive site investigations;  
- The submission of a scheme of remedial works for approval; and  
- Implementation of those remedial works.  
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme.  
 

Page 35



REASON: Probable shallow mine workings potentially pose a risk to both public safety and the 
stability of the proposed development. Consequently, intrusive site investigation works should be 
undertaken in order to establish the exact situation regarding them in accordance with policy SU5 of 
the adopted Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 
7. Prior to the commencement of development details of the location and position of bird boxes, bat 

access tiles and bat boxes to be incorporated into the building and/or trees shall be submitted and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved boxes/tiles shall be subsequently 
be implemented in accordance with the approved details before the development is completed and 
therefore retained for the life of the development.  
 
REASON: In the interests of biodiversity in accordance with policy EN4 of the Tamworth Local Plan 
2006-2031. 
 

8. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted noise assessment.  The 
development shall not be brought into use until a noise test has been submitted and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The noise test shall be carried out on the ground, first and 
second floor rooms to ensure that sufficient noise mitigation has been carried out.  
 
REASON: To protect the amenity of the existing and future residents of nearby residential properties 
in accordance with policy EN5: Design of New Developments and SU5 Pollution, Ground Conditions 
and Minerals and Soils as set out in the adopted Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031 and paragraph 
180 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
9. All landscaping and boundary treatment approved shall be carried out in the first planting and 

seeding season following the occupation of the buildings or the completion of the development, 
whichever is the sooner; and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the 
completion of the development die, are removed, or become seriously damaged or diseased shall 
be replaced in the next planting season with others of a similar size and species, unless the Local 
Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.  
 
REASON: In the interests of the setting and visual appearance of the development, and in 
accordance with Policy EN5 Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 
 

10. The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until such time as the car parking 
and turning facilities have been implemented in accordance with the Proposed Site Plan (Drawing 
No. 2702/210 Rev. A); thereafter the onsite parking provision shall be so maintained in perpetuity. 

 
REASON: To ensure that adequate off-street parking provision is made to reduce the possibility of 
the proposed development leading to on-street parking problems locally and to enable vehicles to 
enter and leave the site in a forward direction in the interests of highway safety and in accordance 
with Paragraph 108 of the National Planning Policy Framework February 2018. 
 

11. The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until such time as secure cycle 
parking shall be provided in accordance with details first submitted to and agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the cycle parking shall be maintained and kept available for 
use. 

 
REASON: In the interests of highway safety and to promote travel by sustainable modes in 
accordance with Paragraphs 104 and 108 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019. 

 
12. The development hereby approved shall be used ancillary to the existing Spring Tree Rest Home 

and shall not be sold, occupied or used as a separate care provider. 
 
REASON: To ensure that the Borough Council`s policies relating to car parking provision and 
neighbouring amenity are not prejudiced in particular policy EN5 SU2 of the adopted Local Plan and 
guidance in the NPPF.   
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 36



PLANS 
 
 

 
Proposed  
 
 

 

Page 37



 

 
 
 

Page 38



 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

 3
rd

 September 2019 

 
 
 

APPLICATION FOR CONSIDERATION 
 

 

 

 
REPORT OF ASSISTANT DIRECTOR - GROWTH & REGENERATION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 41

Agenda Item 4b



 
 
Application Number:  0254/2019 
 
Development:  Proposed agricultural barn for grain storage incorporating a wood chip 

powered biomass heating system 
 
Location:  Statfold Barn Farm, Ashby Road, Tamworth, Staffordshire, B79 0BU 

 

 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 This application is being reported to Planning Committee as it is a major application over 1000 

squared metres and therefore needs to be considered by members. 
 
1.2 Statfold Barn Farm is located off Ashby Rd to the North East of Tamworth. The existing site 

encompasses farm house buildings, seed oil buildings, seed oil laboratory and offices, existing grain 
stores and the Staffold Steam Railway Trust buildings. 

 
1.3 The proposed barn use will be to store grain and seeds for use on the site for the seed oil business. 

The proposed building will measure 54.75 metres by 30.75 metres. The proposed building will be 
approx. 5.2m tall to the eaves and 9.3m tall to the ridge. The proposed barn will have a shallow duo-
pitched roof similar to that of the existing barns on site. 

 
1.4 The farm currently has two existing grain stores, one at Church Farm 1800 tonnes, one at Statfold 

Barn Farm 1000 tonnes plus organic store, collective storage capacity is approx. 3000 tonnes. 
 
1.5 The applicant’s main reason for the Statfold Barn farm grain store building project is to provide 

additional organic grain storage in a segregated building that has good temperature control. The 
new building has shutter door access at each end to the North and South and separate pedestrian 
doors access points. In the North West corner of the building there will be a wood chip powered 
biomass heating system to provide heating to the building for temperature-controlled storage 
environment for the grain. The existing ground levels around the works area will generally remain as 
existing but be graded and ramped as necessary at the shutter doors. The new building walls and 
roof will be finished with profiled metal cladding in ‘heritage green’ colour matching existing 
agricultural use buildings in the area. 

 
1.6 The application site is located centrally and to the east of the main farm buildings and is 

approximately 400m from Ashby Road. The Planning Application is for the erection of a new grain 
store agricultural building structure including a biomass heating system. 

 
1.7 The existing access routes onto the site will not be affected by the proposal. The new agricultural 

building will be linked to Statfold Barn Farm by existing farm tracks to avoid farm vehicles having to 
use the Ashby Road. 

 
1.8 The applicants overall farm ownership site area is approximately 1270 acres made up from land at 

Statfold Barn Farm, Copnill Farm and Church Farm Seckington. Statfold Barn Farm is located to the 
North of Tamworth. The farm is currently dual use for arable and livestock with 1270 acres 
consisting the following: 
600 acres of cereals, 370 acres of Grass, 240 acres of Oil seed crops, 60 acres of wood and lakes 
Amounting to: 
Cereals 2160 tonnes, Oil Seed 696 tonnes, Grass Land 700 sheep, Producing annuals 1260 lambs. 

 
1.9 The applicant’s organic business continues to grow and they are required to provide separated 

storage for grain to comply with the Soil Association rules. Statfold Barn Farm forms part of the 
clients wider farm ownership which includes the adjacent Statfold Barn Farm and Church Farm 
Seckington. The Church Farm acreage is 240, split 200 arable, 40 grass. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 42



Location Plan 
 

 
 
2. Policies 
 
2.1 Local Plan Policies  
 

SS1  - The Spatial Strategy for Tamworth 
SS2 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
EN1 – Landscape Character 
EN4 – Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity 
EN5 – Design and New Development 
SU1 - Sustainable Transport Network 
SU2 – Delivering Sustainable Transport 
SU4 - Flood Risk and Water Management 
SU5 – Pollution, Ground Conditions and Minerals and Soils 
IM1 – Infrastructure and Developer Contributions 

 
3. Relevant Site History 

 

T22412 CROP STORE 

T22520 FARM OFFICE, MESS ROOM AND TOILETS 

 
 

4. Consultation Responses 
 
4.1 Whilst every effort has been made to accurately summarise the responses received, full copies of 

the representations received are available to view at 
http://planning.tamworth.gov.uk/northgate/planningexplorer/generalsearch.aspx  

Page 43

http://planning.tamworth.gov.uk/northgate/planningexplorer/generalsearch.aspx


                      
The consultation responses comments are précised if conditions are proposed these are included 
within the conditions at the end of the report unless stated otherwise. 
 

4.2 Tamworth Borough Council – Environmental Health 
 
No objection 
 

4.3 Staffordshire County Council – Highways 
 
No objection 
 

4.4 Staffordshire County Council – Local Lead Flood Authority (LLFA) 
 
No objection 
 

4.5 Staffordshire County Council – Public Rights of Way  
 
Public Footpath No. 114 Tamworth runs generally in a northernly to southernly direction, to the west 
of the application site. It does not appear from the application documents that this right of way will be 
affected by the proposals. 
 
The County Council has not received any application under Section 53 of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 to add or modify the Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way, which affects the 
land in question. It should be noted, however, that this does not preclude the possibility of the 
existence of a right of way at common law, or by virtue of a presumed dedication under Section 31 
of the Highways Act 1980. It may, therefore, be necessary to make further local enquiries and seek 
legal advice in respect of any physically evident route affecting the land, or the apparent exercise of 
a right of way by members of the public. 
 

4.6 North Warwickshire Borough Council 
 
No comments 

 
 
5. Additional Representations 
 
5.1 As part of the consultation process adjacent residents were notified and a press notice and site 

notices were erected. Whilst every effort has been made to accurately summarise the responses 
received, full copies of the representations received are available to view at www.tamworth.gov.uk.  
Letter received from Christopher Pincher MP indicating the following comments: 

 
- Project will help the business expand and store their grain and cereals at an adequate temperature. 
- Applicant is willing to ensure that the build has minimal impact on residents. 
- Proposal is well away from neighbouring properties, flood zone and linked to existing roads. 
- The proposal is proposed to be finished in heritage green colour. 
- Proposal will ensure the continued economic viability of the farm.  

 
6. Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
6.1 Due regard, where relevant, has been taken to the Tamworth Borough Council’s equality duty as 

contained within the Equalities Act 2010. The authority has had due regard to the public sector 
equality duty (PSED).  Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, a public authority must in the 
exercised of its functions, have due regard to the interests and needs of those sharing the protected 
characteristics under the Act, such as age, gender, disability and race. This proposal has no impact 
on such protected characteristics. 

 
6.2 There may be implications under Article 8 and Article 1 of the First Protocol of the Human Rights 

Act, regarding the right of respect for a person’s private and family life and home, and to the 
peaceful enjoyment of possessions.  However, these issues have been taken into account in the 
determination of this application. 

 
 

Page 44

http://www.tamworth.gov.uk/


7. Planning Considerations 
 
7.1 The key issues to be considered at this stage are  
 

 Principle 

 Landscape character 

 Design 

 Local amenity 

 Drainage 

 Highways 
 
7.2 Principle 
 
7.2.1  The starting point in determining the acceptability of development proposals is the Local Plan, 

where the policies are consistent with the NPPF. Policy EN1 and EN5 are the most relevant local 
policies in assessing an agricultural building within the Borough. Tamworth is predominantly urban 
and however policy EN1 relates to the protection of the landscape character outside of the urban 
area. Along with this policy EN5 considers the design and siting.  

 
7.2.2 As well as the local there is guidance within the National Planning Policy Framework and its practice 

guidance (NPPF). The NPPF, at section 6 (paragraphs 83 and 84), sets out that planning policies 
should support economic growth in rural areas in order to create jobs and prosperity by taking a 
positive approach to sustainable new development. This includes the sustainable growth and 
expansion of all types of business and enterprise in rural areas, both through conversion of existing 
buildings and well-designed new buildings; and through promotion of the development and 
diversification of agricultural and other land-based rural businesses. While new development in the 
open countryside is generally resisted, it is noted that where there is an accepted proven need for a 
building to support the existing agricultural enterprise, these may be acceptable in principle. 
Therefore both the local plan and national guidance indicate that the provision of a building for 
agricultural use would be acceptable outside of the existing urban area.  
 

7.2.3 In respect of justification for the building the applicant has indicated the following: 

The existing organic grain store has for some time had insufficient capacity and does not conform to 
proposed bio cross contamination organic status rules.  We have been in the organic business for 
25 years and our business continues to grow. As the existing store is at full capacity more storage is 
vital to grow the business.  All other buildings, were they not fully utilised, would not be suitable for 
organic storage. Some loading of grain currently has to take place outside and the new building will 
allow vehicles to be loaded internally keeping the product dry and free from contaminants and again 
an important compliance with the bio cross contamination organic status rules. Furthermore, we are 
part of a supply chain to finished products and the increased capacity will enable our business to 
prepare for customs issues should the UK fail to agree terms with the E.U. and Government advice 
is that we should be prepared and in our case store more. 

 

7.2.4 It is therefore considered that the proposed development would provide modern up to date storage 
for the applicant’s grain business. The building would provide secure and dry storage for the 
applicant’s including the distribution side of the business. It will allow them to operate their business 
in a rural area, and so in an accessible location for the work that he undertakes. Subject to the 
building being considered ‘well designed’, the proposal is considered to be supported by the NPPF 
which permits new buildings for economic purposes in rural areas, and in particular promotes the 
development and diversification of agricultural and other land-based rural businesses. The principle 
of a building for the purposes of the applicants agricultural and groundworks business is therefore 
considered to be acceptable in this location. A condition will be imposed on the building to ensure it 
is used for this purpose, this is standard practice. 

 
7.3 Landscape Character 
  
7.3.1 Policy EN1 states that Development and activities outside the urban area should be informed by 

landscape character assessments and contribute to the enhancement, restoration or regeneration of 
the landscape affected, as appropriate. Landscape character assessments will also act as a guide 
for re-introducing landscape features, habitat creation and management in areas of lower landscape 
quality and preserving and enhancing surviving historic features. 

Page 45



 
7.3.2 Statfold Barn Farm sits in a Landscape Character and Enhancement Area which policy EN1 refers 

to the area as Anker Valley north of Coton Lane where landscape quality is low. It indicates that the 
area of land is at risk of rapid loss of character. The policy objective is to provide landscape 
restoration using surviving character and landscape elements as a guide. This includes hedgerow 
maintenance, habitat creation and tree/woodland planting. However, it is considered innovative 
landscape regeneration is required involving working towards a new vision because of loss of 
character and decline in condition. The overall significant and value of this area should be taken into 
account when considering development within the urban fringe areas.  

 
7.3.3 Clearly policy EN1 sets out that the Council will protect the character and quality of the open 

countryside from being spoilt by sporadic development by defining development limits. Small scale 
development appropriate for the enjoyment of the scenic qualities of the countryside and other 
appropriate small scale development having a rural character will only be permitted in open 
countryside where it; clearly benefits the rural economy; helps to maintain or enhance landscape 
character; is essential for the efficient operation of agriculture or forestry, or is essential to the needs 
of the rural community. The building is sited to the south of the existing Statfold Barn complex where 
there are already a number of buildings, these are part of the residential and commercial relating to 
the current events business. To the south of these some 200 metres away there is another 
agricultural building. It is in the intervening gap where the building is proposed. In terms of 
landscape character there are hedgerow field boundaries both to the east and west. It is considered 
that there may be views of the proposal from the bridleway and public footpaths which are in the 
vicinity of the building and in accordance with policy due to the size of building there are places 
where there is potential to restore and enhance the landscape through hedgerows and tree planting. 
A condition is therefore proposed as part of the scheme requiring this.     

 

 

 
 
7.4 Design 
 
7.4.1 Whilst supportive of new buildings for economic purposes in rural areas, the NPPF does specify that 

those buildings should be well designed. With regards to good design, paragraph 127 of the NPPF 
requires development to respect local character and history and reflect the identity of local 

Page 46



surroundings and materials. In consideration of the application the position of the site is likely to be 
one of only a few favourable options in terms of local landscape character, in that it is positioned 
close to the existing farmstead. In this location it is relatively fairly well related to the built form. 
However, in terms of wider views, the proposed development would be seen in the context of other 
development. In terms of location, only one building is proposed and it is sited within the field to be 
against an existing field boundary on a lower lying position, where views will be reduced. In terms of 
materials the new building walls and roof will be finished with profiled metal cladding in ‘heritage 
green’ colour matching existing agricultural use buildings in the area. Overall, it is considered that 
the design is appropriate.  

 
7.5 Local Amenity 
 
7.5.1 One of the core principles of sustainable development within paragraph 8 of the NPPF is that 

planning should always seek to a good standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of 
land and buildings. Para 180 of the NPPF and SU5 deals with this issue.  A concern with this 
application is the potential impact on neighbouring residential properties, the nearest of which are 
occupiers of Copnill Farm, Shuttington House and Brookside, these are around 300 metres away 
from the proposal building. As the building is to be used for grain and not livestock then the impact 
of the proposal would not be detrimental to the neighbouring properties. Environmental Health have 
no objection to the proposal having assessed the impact on residential amenity and the information 
relating to biomass heating.  

 

7.6 Surface Water Drainage 
 
7.6.1 The development is a major application and therefore the LLFA were consulted about the 

application. They indicated that having the reviewed the flood risk associated with the location of the 
development against the EA surface water flood mapping, and have concluded the following:   

 

 The proposed building is located within an area of high surface water flood risk associated with the 
nearby watercourse, therefore suggesting that the building could be affected by surface water 
flooding in a significant rainfall event.  

 It appears that no other 3
rd

 party property or land would be affected by the displacement of surface 
water upon completion of the building.   

 The building falls under a less vulnerable category, i.e. non-residential.  
 

7.6.2 On the above basis, it is considered that a condition is required to ensure that surface water flood 
risk associated with the development including the hardsurfacing into consideration by incorporating 
flood resilient design, to mitigate against the risk of damage to the building and any stock which may 
be contained within it. 

 
7.7 Highway Safety 
 
7.7,1 Finally rural access roads should be capable of accommodating the traffic likely to be generated by 

the proposal, and service and infrastructure should be provided without causing a serious harmful 
change to the rural character and appearance of the locality. SCC Highways is of the view, that 
there would not be an unacceptable impact on highway safety. The access serving the wider site is 
onto Ashby Road, a Class Two road. In the vicinity of the site frontage it is an unrestricted (60 mph) 
road that does not benefit from any street lighting or pedestrian facilities (footways). On the basis of 
that “the proposed barn use will be to store grain and seeds for use on the site for the seed oil 
business”. On the basis of the above, it is unlikely that the proposal will lead to a significant increase 
in traffic at the access and it is acceptable. 

 
8 Conclusion 
 
8.1 Overall, there is considered to be adequate justification for the proposed building and it is also 

deemed that with an appropriate landscaping scheme, the proposal will not have a detrimental 
impact on local landscape character. It is also considered that there will be no adverse impact on 
highway safety or on residential amenity of local residents. As such, it is considered appropriate to 
recommend approval of the proposed scheme. 

 
 

Page 47



9 Recommendation 
 

1. Approval subject to conditions 
 

  

 
Conditions / Reasons 

 
 

1. The development shall be started within three years of the date of this permission.  
 
REASON: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by 
Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  
 

2. The development hereby approved shall only be carried out in accordance with the following 
drawings and documents. 

  

Drawing(s) Reference(s) 

Proposed Site Location Plan  19029-001 
 

Site Block Plan as existing  19029-002 

Site Plan as Proposed 19029-003 

Site Block Plan as Proposed  19029-004 

New Grain Store – Plan as Proposed 19029-100 

Sections and Roof Plan 19029-101 

Elevations as Proposed 19029-102 

Design and Access Statement  

 
REASON: To define this permission. 

 
During building works  

3. Notwithstanding any details shown on the approved plans and the requirements of condition 2 of 
this permission, within one month of development first taking place a drainage strategy for the 
building and external areas shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall indicate the attenuation of surface water from the proposal and 
measures to ensure a flood resilient design of the building. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.   

REASON: To ensure that the development is flood resilient and surface water drainage is 
attenuated in accordance with policies EN1, SU4 of the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031 and the 
NPPF.  

4. Notwithstanding any details shown on the approved plans and the requirements of condition 2 of 
this permission, within one month of development first taking place a landscaping scheme for the 
site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall 
indicate all enhancement of trees and hedgerows on the land; detail any to be retained, together 
with measures for their protection in the course of the development; indicate the types, species, 
siting, planting distances and the programme of planting of trees, hedges and shrubs, and detail any 
changes of ground level or landform.  

REASON: To ensure that the development is of attractive appearance in the interests of visual 
amenity, and to accord with policies EN1 and EN5 of the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031 and the 
NPPF.  

On-going 

5. The landscaping scheme required by condition 4 above, shall be implemented during the first 
planting season following completion of the development hereby approved and shall thereafter be 
retained and maintained as such. Any trees or shrubs planted in accordance with this condition 
shall, in the event of their death within 5 years from their date of planting, be replaced by similar 
specimens as soon as is practicably possible and no later than the end of the planting season 
following their death.  

Page 48



REASON: To ensure that the development is of attractive appearance in the interests of visual 
amenity, and to accord with policies EN1 and EN5 of the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031 and the 
NPPF.  

6. The building hereby permitted shall not be used other than for the purposes of the grain storage 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

REASON: The vehicular access to the site is such that any alternate use of the building may result 
in an increase in vehicular traffic to the detriment of highway safety. To define the permission. To 
accord with policies EN1, EN5, SU2 and SU5 of the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031 and the 
NPPF.  

 
7. No areas outside the building hereby permitted shall be used for the carrying out of any industrial 

operations or for the storage of materials, plant, equipment or waste other than agreed in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt as to what is permitted and to ensure that the use of the site 
does not detract from the general amenities of the countryside, and to accord with policies EN1, 
SU2 and SU5 of the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031 and the NPPF. 

 
 
PLANS 
 
 

 
Proposed siting  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 49



 
Proposed elevations 

 
 

 
 
 

Photo View looking north 
 

 
 

Page 50


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	4 Application for consideration - Footsteps Nursery, Lichfield Street
	4a Application for consideration Spring Tree Care Home
	4b Application for consideration - Statfold Barn Farm

